STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2019-UP-361 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed November 6, 2019)

2013-GS-23-04260;04261;04262;04263;04264

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN DONELL RHODES,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000045

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

VICTOR R. SEEGER
Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
JAN 28 2020
SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the good faith exception applied when the state obtained Petitioner's cell phone records, including his cell site location information (CSLI), without a warrant and without properly complying with the Stored Communications Act, in violation of Petitioner's rights under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, since the only alleged exigency was the investigation of a double homicide?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial judge's error in admitting unreliable expert testimony concerning per call measurement data (PCMD), which is an estimate of the distance a cell phone is from a cell tower, was harmless when the evidence was extremely prejudicial to Petitioner and undoubtedly contributed to the verdict since it was the only evidence that placed Petitioner at or near the location where the murders occurred?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Helen and Gary Wells were murdered in their home on the night of October 1, 2012. Their housekeeper, Shirley Rogers, discovered the bodies on the morning of October 3, 2012. R. 119, l. 6 – 127, l. 6. Rogers was immediately a suspect in the murders after law enforcement discovered there was an ongoing investigation concerning Rogers' fraudulent use of Helen Wells's debit card. Rogers had been fired by the Wellses approximately two weeks before the murders. The police began a "background investigation" on Rogers, which included obtaining her cell phone records. Through this investigation, the police learned that Petitioner was a "known associate" of Rogers. R. 194, l. 2 – 195, l. 17. More specifically, law enforcement discovered there had been telephone contact between Rogers and Petitioner between September 30, 2012, and October 3, 2012. R. 196, ll. 4 – 18. Consequently, the Greenville County Sheriff's Office requested Petitioner's phone records from Sprint.¹

After obtaining Petitioner's phone records, law enforcement used the historical call detail information to track Petitioner's whereabouts on the night of the murder. The state called Richard Fennern, who was qualified as an expert in historical call detail analysis, to testify at trial concerning this evidence. R. 377, l. 23 – 378, l. 5. Fennern claimed that based on these records at 10:45 pm and 11:02 pm on October 1, 2012, the location of Petitioner's phone was consistent with him being at or near the Wells's residence. He further claimed that the location of Petitioner's phone at 11:45 pm on October 1, 2012 was consistent with him being at or near Shirley Rogers' house. R. 410, l. 8 – 415, l. 8.

Neither Petitioner's DNA nor fingerprints were found in the Wells's house. R. 212, l. 20 – 213, l. 24. However, blood belonging to both Helen Wells and Gary Wells was found in Eric Cade's car, which was frequently driven by Petitioner. R. 469, l. 2 – 477, l. 21.

Curtis McLeod, an inmate who was incarcerated with Petitioner pretrial, testified as well. R. 498, l. 22 – 499, l. 20. He claimed Petitioner confessed to committing the murders. R. 501, l. 17 –

¹ The actual subscriber of this phone was Richard Eric Cade, who was Petitioner's "roommate." However, it was undisputed that Petitioner was the exclusive user of this phone. R. 215, ll. 7-8.

507, l. 6. McLeod was a career criminal with prior convictions for burglary, strong arm robbery, and distribution of drugs. At the time of trial, McLeod had both state and federal pending charges. The solicitor who prosecuted Petitioner promised to assist McLeod with his pending charges in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner. R. 510, l. 10 – 512, l. 7.

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on May 21, 2013, for two counts of murder, two counts of kidnapping, first degree burglary, and four counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 598-601. His case was called to trial on November 30, 2015 before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. R. 1. W. Walter Wilkins and Betty Strom represented the state, and John Kenneth Erwin and Stuart Sarratt represented Petitioner. R. 1.

On December 3, 2015, the jury found Petitioner guilty. R. 583, l. 15 – 584, l. 14. Judge Hayes sentenced him to life without parole for murder and first degree burglary, and five years' imprisonment for each count of the weapons offense. No sentence was imposed for kidnapping pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. The judge ordered all sentences be served concurrently. R. 585, l. 16 – 586, l. 11.

Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal. After the record on appeal and final briefs were filed, oral argument was held before the Court of Appeals on March 14, 2018. By order filed January 17, 2019, the Court of Appeals directed the parties to serve and file supplemental briefs in light of the United States Supreme Court's holding in Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018).

On February 15, 2019, the state filed the supplemental brief of respondent and on February 19, 2019, Petitioner filed his supplemental brief of appellant. In an unpublished opinion filed on November 6, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence. State v. Rhodes, 2019-UP-361 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 6, 2019); App. 1-8. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on November 21, 2019 requesting the Court of Appeals rehear his case. App. 9-16. The Court of Appeals denied the petition by order filed December 13, 2019. App. 17-18.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the good faith exception applied when the state obtained Petitioner's cell phone records, including his cell site location information (CSLI), without a warrant and without properly complying with the Stored Communications Act, in violation of Petitioner's rights under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, since the only alleged exigency was the investigation of a double homicide.

Relevant Facts

Petitioner moved pretrial to suppress his cell phone records, including the cell site location information (CSLI) and the per call measurement data (PCMD), obtained from Sprint and any testimony related to the records under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. R. 267, l. 25 – 268, l. 4.

Defense counsel explained that law enforcement obtained Petitioner's phone records from Sprint through 18 U.S.C. § 2702 of the Stored Communications Act (SCA), which allowed a provider to voluntarily disclose a subscriber's records to law enforcement if law enforcement had "a good faith belief that there is some exigent circumstance that risks danger, imminent danger to somebody's life and safety." Counsel stated that "law enforcement did provide an affidavit which indicated that was the case, and in turn they were provided the records [by Sprint]. The telephone company did choose to voluntarily disclose those." R. 103, l. 14 – 104, l. 2. The exigent circumstance listed by law enforcement to obtain Petitioner's records was "investigation of a double homicide." R. 270, ll. 13-16; R. 596.

Counsel argued there were no exigent circumstances that permitted a voluntary disclosure under § 2702. Before requesting Petitioner's records from Sprint, the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) conducted a criminal profile and determined that "this was a

personal attack against the Wellses, that there was no broader danger to anyone else, that this was sort of a personalized thing.” R. 213, l. 25 – 214, l. 6. Consequently, counsel maintained there was no “emergency involving danger of death or serious physical injury to any person” that required voluntary disclose of Petitioner’s records under § 2702. He maintained that the “investigation of a double homicide” was not enough. R. 270, l. 13 – 271, l. 11.

Counsel argued law enforcement was required to obtain a court order for the records under 18 U.S.C. § 2703, “which governs compelled disclosures of subscriber information” and “call detail records.” R. 269, l. 1 – 271, l. 2. He asserted, “[T]he government manipulated the cell phone companies in providing this information voluntarily by misrepresenting and exaggerating the exigency that did not exist. Therefore, the cell phone company was manipulated into acting at the government’s behest. And that manipulation makes the cell phone company an agent of law enforcement, thereby triggering the Fourth Amendment.” R. 271, ll. 3-11.

The state argued Petitioner had no “standing” under the Fourth Amendment to challenge law enforcement’s acquirement of his phone records because he had “no contractual relationship with the phone company” since Eric Cade was the actual subscriber. R. 272, l. 23 – 273, l. 4.

Defense counsel argued the right that Petitioner “is seeking to have protected is his right to privacy in his location . . . therefore, it would not matter if the phone was in his name. The phone essentially acts as a tracking device. And as long as it tracks his movements, then he does have the right to privacy. It’s not a right to privacy necessarily in the phone itself, but it’s the signals that are sent off of the towers and bounce back and track his location. That’s what he has a right to privacy in.” R. 273, ll. 8-17. Law enforcement requested four days of records, October 1, 2012, through October 4, 2012. Counsel asserted, “So it would have been four days of essentially surveillance of his location.” R. 273, ll. 18-20.

Lastly, defense counsel argued that even if the judge found Petitioner's rights under the Fourth Amendment were not violated, he should still find Petitioner's right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution was violated. Citing State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001), counsel maintained that the South Carolina Constitution "enumerates a specific privacy right that is more limited than the Federal Constitution" and that "[s]tates are free to . . . enhance" their citizens' rights, and South Carolina has specifically [done so] in its State Constitution." He concluded that Petitioner's right to privacy under our state constitution was violated by law enforcement's action in this case. R. 274, l. 22 – 275, l. 9.

The trial judge ruled Petitioner had no "standing." He stated that "if anyone had any right to privacy in the divulging of those records, it would be Mr. Cade [the actual subscriber]. And of course, he [Eric Cade] has not raised that. He's not a party. So I'm going to allow the introduction of the records." R. 275, l. 10 – 276, l. 1. Because the judge found Petitioner had no expectation of privacy in the records, he made no further ruling on Petitioner's arguments.

Citing to Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), the Court of Appeals held Petitioner had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his physical location data compiled and stored by his wireless carrier, also known as cell site location information (CSLI), and could therefore challenge the seizure and admission of those records in his case. App. 4-5. Again relying on Carpenter, the court recognized that a search warrant supported by probable cause was required before law enforcement could obtain CSLI from a wireless carrier. Even though the police obtained Petitioner's CSLI without a warrant, the Court of Appeals held Carpenter did not require the exclusion of this evidence because the officers relied "in good faith" on the Stored Communications Act. App. 5 (citing United States v. Chavez, 894 F.3d 593, 608 (4th Cir. 2018)). The court further held that the mere investigation of a double homicide in this case, with nothing more, presented an

exigent circumstance which allowed the police to obtain Petitioner's CSLI without a warrant. App. 4-5 (citing Carpenter, 138 S.Ct. at 2223).

Discussion

The Court of Appeals erred by ruling that the state had a good faith belief that there were exigent circumstances to obtain Petitioner's cell phone records without a warrant. The state had no reason to believe that the double homicide they were investigating posed a danger to a specific person or to the public at large. See R. 213, l. 25 – 214, l. 6. Accordingly, their belief that there were exigent circumstances to obtain Petitioner's CSLI and PCMD without a warrant was unreasonable.

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, (1967); Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

“Generally, a warrantless search is *per se* unreasonable and violates the Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.” Weaver, 374 S.C. at 319, 649 S.E.2d at 482. The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution provide that a search warrant may not issue except upon probable cause. U.S. Const. amend IV; S.C. Const. art. I, §10. South Carolina's search warrant statute permits a search warrant to search for and seize “property

constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140.

In United States v. Carpenter, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), the United States Supreme Court was confronted with a case where law enforcement used the Stored Communications Act (SCA) to obtain from the defendant’s wireless carrier historic information and data establishing the location of his cell phone for approximately one hundred and twenty-seven days. The Supreme Court held “historical cell-site records present even greater privacy concerns than the GPS monitoring of a vehicle” since “a cell phone—almost a feature of human anatomy—tracks nearly exactly the movements of its owner.” Id. at 2218 (quoting Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 385 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted); See United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400, 430 (2012). “Accordingly, when the Government tracks the location of a cell phone it achieves near perfect surveillance, as if it had attached an ankle monitor to the phone’s user.” Id. The Court emphasized that “with access to CSLI, the Government can now travel back in time to retrace a person’s whereabouts, subject only to the retention policies of the wireless carriers, which currently maintain records for up to five years.” Id.

After analyzing its prior precedent, the Court held that individuals maintain a legitimate expectation of privacy in the records of their physical movements as captured through cell site location information (CSLI). Id. at 2217. Accordingly, the Court concluded that gathering CSLI is a Fourth Amendment search and when police are collecting CSLI under these circumstances, the Fourth Amendment requires a search warrant supported by a judicial finding of probable cause. Id. Obtaining such information through the SCA is a direct violation of the Fourth Amendment.

Expectation of Privacy Under the Fourth Amendment

“The Fourth Amendment protects ‘the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.’” Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. at

2213. “The ‘basic purpose of this Amendment . . . is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by governmental officials.’” Id. (quoting Camara v. Municipal Court of City and County of San Francisco, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967)). While the Fourth Amendment search doctrine was originally “tied to common-law trespass,” in Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967), the Supreme Court established that “the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places” and expanded the conception of the Amendment to protect certain expectations of privacy as well. Id. “When an individual seeks to preserve something as private, and his expectation of privacy is one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable . . . official intrusion into that private sphere generally qualifies as a search and requires a warrant supported by probable cause.” Id. (quoting Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 740 (1979)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Supreme Court in Carpenter squarely rejected the application of the third-party doctrine to historical cell site location information. Id. at 2220. The Court reasoned, “Given the unique nature of the cell phone location records, the fact that the information is held by a third party does not by itself overcome the user’s claim to Fourth Amendment protection.” Id. at 2217. Cell site location information is able to create a detailed chronicle of a person’s physical presence compiled every day, every moment over a period of several years. See Id. at 2220. For these reasons, the Supreme Court ultimately held “that an individual maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy in the record of his physical movements as captured through CSLI and that location information obtained from wireless carriers is the product of a search.” Id. at 2117.

The Supreme Court’s holding in Carpenter controls in this case. Petitioner had a reasonable expectation of privacy pursuant to the Fourth Amendment in his cell phone records, including the call detail records, the CSLI, and the PCMD, collected by law enforcement through the Stored Communications Act. Moreover, this collection was the product of a search.

The state argued at trial and on appeal that Petitioner did not have an expectation of privacy because the actual subscriber of the cell phone was Petitioner's roommate, Eric Cade. The trial judge accepted this erroneous argument. However, it was undisputed that Petitioner was the exclusive user of this cell phone. It was his movements the phone was tracking, not Eric Cade's. Consequently, Petitioner had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the records obtained by law enforcement through the SCA.

A Warrant is Required to Obtain CSLI Under to the Fourth Amendment

Having found the acquisition of Carpenter's CSLI was a search, the United States Supreme Court concluded "that the Government must generally obtain a warrant supported by probable cause before acquiring such records." Carpenter, 138 S. Ct at 2221. In Carpenter, the government obtained Carpenter's cell site records pursuant to a court order issued under the Stored Communications Act, which required the government to show "reasonable grounds" for believing the records were "relevant and material to an ongoing investigation." Carpenter, 138 S.Ct. at 2221; See 18 U.S.C. § 2703(d). The Court found this "showing falls well short of the probable cause required for a warrant." Id. Consequently, the Court held "an order issued under Section 2703(d) of the Act is not a permissible mechanism for accessing historical cell-site records." Id. Finally, the Court announced, "Before compelling a wireless carrier to turn over a subscriber's CSLI, the Government's obligation is a familiar one—get a warrant." Id.

"[E]ven though the Government will generally need a warrant to access CSLI, case-specific exceptions may support a warrantless search of an individual's cell-site records under certain circumstances. One well-recognized exception applies when the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that a warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 2222 (citing Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 460 (2011)) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). "Such exigencies include the need to pursue a

fleeing suspect, protect individuals who are threatened with imminent harm, or prevent the imminent destruction of evidence.” Id. at 2223 (citing King, 563 U.S. at 460). The Supreme Court made clear that while the police must get a warrant when collecting CSLI to assist in a criminal investigation, this requirement does not limit their ability to respond to an ongoing emergency. Id. The Court emphasized that lower courts “have approved warrantless searches related to bomb threats, active shootings, and child abductions. Id.

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