STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

FEB 27 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

*On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals*

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

The Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000045

Unpublished Opinion No. 2019-UP-361

THE STATE .....RESPONDENT

v.

JONATHAN D. RHODES .....PETITIONER

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia South Carolina 29211  
(803)734-0265

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

in reasonable reliance on subsequently invalidated statutes); *Arizona v. Evans*, 514 U.S. 1, 115 S.Ct. 1185, 131 L.Ed. 34 (1995)(Good faith exception applied when police reasonably relied on erroneous information concerning an arrest warrant in a database maintained by judicial employees.) Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in deciding that because of the violent nature of the crime alone officers had a good faith belief that an ongoing emergency existed. It should be considered reasonable that a person at large who has committed two homicides is dangerous. It was at the utmost importance that he be apprehended. If the information held by Sprint could assist in this apprehension then it was lawful that this information be volunteered to law enforcement.

The Respondent will also argue that Petitioner consented to the search of his phone and all records pertaining to its carrier due to the fact he willingly gave his phone to law enforcement. On October 22, 2012, Petitioner and Mr. Cade went to law enforcement in order to answer questions. At that time they both gave their phones to law enforcement as was testified by Investigator Hammett (R. p. 197 lines 12-14) and Investigator Howard. (R. 357 lines 24 – p. 358 line 1). It is equally well settled that one of the specifically established exceptions to the requirements of both warrant and probable cause is a search that is conducted pursuant to consent. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 219, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2043 (1973). Once Petitioner relinquished his phone he waived any right to privacy. At that time law enforcement was allowed to search any records that was available including any location data that was held by Sprint that could have determined his whereabouts at the time the crime was committed.

The phone was given to law enforcement on October 22, the records request made on October 17. The Respondent argues that this information would have been eventually discovered now that law enforcement had possession of these phones, so under the doctrine of inevitable

discovery the waiver of his right to privacy exist. The purpose of the inevitable discovery rule, i.e. that evidence would ultimately or inevitably been discovered notwithstanding constitutional violation, is to block setting aside conviction that would have been obtained without police misconduct. *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501 (1984). It would have been safe to assume that law enforcement would have gotten these location records with the waiver of any right to privacy by Petitioner as soon as he relinquished his phone to law enforcement. Pursuant to SCA, a provider may divulge the contents of a communication with lawful consent of the originator or an addressee or intended recipient of such communication, or the subscriber in the case of remote computing service. 18 U.S.C. §2702(b)(3). So pursuant to this act the relinquishment of this phone gave law enforcement the consent to request and obtain these records. There would have been no need to reveal exigent circumstances in order for Sprint to voluntarily relinquish these records. This information would have been eventually obtained by law enforcement so the exclusionary rule does not apply. Ultimate or inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule is adopted and if prosecution can establish by a preponderance of evidence that the information ultimately or inevitably would have been discovered by lawful means then the deterrence rationale has so little basis that the evidence should be received. *Nix*. 467 U.S. at 444.

**2. The Court of Appeals did not err in determining that the introduction of PCMD was harmless error since there exist other sufficient evidence to convict.**

During trial the prosecutor presented evidence from FBI special agent Richard Fennern regarding PCMD. The Petitioner argued that this science was unreliable so it should have not been allowed as evidence, and the trial court erred in allowing this evidence before jury over his objection. The Court of Appeals agreed but determined that allowing this evidence was harmless error. There was sufficient evidence to convict even though this evidence was admitted.

During trial Agent Fennern explained PCMD to the Court. As part of his training Agent Fennern met with cell phone engineers to get an understanding of how their network is built and how it is maintained and how their records are created. (R. p. 21 lines 2-5) Sprint created a PCMD report which was additional information Sprint began providing to law enforcement. PCMD relates to distance measurements revealing how far a phone is away from a tower when the transmission occurs. (R. p. 27 lines 10-15). It is used by engineers to help understand their network capacity and where cell phones are used within the network for planning decisions. (R. p. 27 lines 17-21) Agent Fennern explained to the court that PCMD records identify the cell tower which would have a number associated with it, and this number would relate only to that specific tower. (R. p. 21 lines 14-19) Agent Fennern did admit that the PCMD error rate was approximately two hundred and forty three to two hundred and forty-four meters. (R. p. 28 lines 15-18)

In response to Agent Fennern's testimony Petitioner called to the stand Mr. Thomas J. Slovenski who is the owner of Cellular Forensics a mobile phone forensics firm which specializes in cell tower examinations and spyware discovery. He testified that PCMD is very inaccurate. He also testified that he had spoken to a Sprint representative and he was informed that they do not guarantee any accuracy of the distance or latitude, longitude at all. (R. p. 81 lines 5-7) Because of the testimony of the inaccuracy of PCMD the Court of Appeals decided that the State failed to present sufficient evidence as to the reliability of PCMD and the trial court did err in allowing this testimony into evidence. The Court of Appeals however correctly decided that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the more general CSLI evidence that was provided placing Petitioner in the general vicinity of the crime scene.

Agent Fennern testified that records from Sprint revealed that not only the number called and the duration of those calls but also the cell tower used for that communication. This provides a general location where the phone was when the call was made or received. (R. p. 6 lines 23 – p. 7 lines 2) They also look at historical events as the location of where the murder occurred to determine if a phone was consistent in being in that area or not. (R. p. 7 lines 13-17) Agent Fennern testified that call detail records document the interaction with the cell phone company, cell phone and tower. This creates a record kept by the cell phone company. (R. p. 18 lines 15-19). They can then match this information with the cell phone towers provided by the cell phone company. (R. p. 18 lines 20-24) Towers are located through a website created for law enforcement where cell phone companies update the location of their cell towers. There is a running list of cell towers going back ten years. (R. p. 19 lines 2-5).

There is testimony that Petitioner's cell phone was near the scene of the murders due to the tower pings that occurred during the possible times of the murders. These location pings along with other corroborating evidence proved Petitioner's guilt. The determination of the Court of Appeals that allowing the PCMD into evidence was harmless error was correct and should not be subject to review by this Court.

When determining if an error is harmless jurisprudence requires not to question whether the State proved their case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict. *State v. Trapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 390, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). There exist no definite rule that governs harmless error, rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. "Error is harmless when it 'could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.'" *Trapp*, 398 S.C. at 389, 728 S.E.2d at 475, quoting, *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d

888 (1971). In reviewing the entire record it is clear Petitioner committed this offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The admission of this evidence did not result in the Petitioner being found guilty since there was other overwhelming evidence proving his guilt.

There were corroborating evidence relating to the CSLI that was found in the Sprint records and testimony about the whereabouts of the Petitioner on the night of the murder. According to the CSLI records the Petitioner's phone was pinged at the cell tower near Verde Boulevard between 8:24 and 8:28 pm. This is the street where the Bi-Lo is located and Mr. Cade testified that he and the Petitioner went to Bi-Lo that night then returned home. (R. p. 302 lines 5-16) Mr. Cade further testified that the Petitioner was gone a long period of time and he attempted to call the Petitioner around 11:00 that night but got his voicemail. (R. p. 304 line 16 – R. p. 305 lines 18) CSLI records show that the Petitioner received two calls within forty or fifty seconds of each other at 11:02 at a signal at a tower near Terramont Drive the street where the victim's lived. There was also testimony that the phone calls lasted from four to five seconds. This is evidence of someone pushing their phone to voicemail since these calls ended so quickly. (R. p. 414 lines 14-16). That evidence refuted the story of the Petitioner who expressed Mr. Cade that he went to sleep at Ms. Rodgers home and she took his car with his phone inside. He had to have his phone with him to send it to voicemail that quickly.

Then there were the texts at 11:44, 11:45, 11:47 from Mr. Cade which the towers reveal that the phone was near South Vance Street the street where Ms. Rodgers lived. (R. p. 414 lines 23-25). This corroborates the testimony of Mr. McLeod who testified that the Petitioner told him that after the murder they went to Ms. Rodgers house to clean up. (R. p. 506 line 22 – R. p. 507 line 1)Then the testimony stated that the tower pings revealed activity at 2:03, 2:04 and 3:58

near Glen Forest Dr. which matched Mr. Cade story when the Petitioner got back home. (R. p. 306 lines 15-16)

The testimony also revealed that the pings from Mr. Cade's phone showing his phone activity at 10:57, 58, 59, and 11:02 located at Glen Forest Dr. matching his testimony that he was constantly attempting to contact Petitioner to find out the whereabouts of his car. His phone hits the tower again at 11:45, 46, and at 11:55 to 12:25 more evidence of him attempting to contact the Petitioner matching his testimony. (R. p. 303 line 12 - 304 line 12)

The car was owned by Mr. Cade, as per his testimony he gave the authorities consent to search. (R. p. 310 lines 14-17). There was the DNA evidence found inside the car that the Petitioner was driving the night of the incident. Investigator David Gamble testified that he took suspected blood swabs from the interior front passenger side door, front passenger side seat, buttons on the center console, lower side passenger seat, and gear shift. (R. p. 437 lines 6 – p. 443 line 2) Dr. Jagannadha Kandala DNA expert from the Department of Public Safety testified that both knives found at the scene had equal portions of DNA from both victims. She also testified that DNA on the gear shift belonged to both victim's and Petitioner, that the DNA from the side passenger seat belonged to both victims, that blood swab from the center console was a mixture of Mrs. Wells, Mr. Wells, Mr. Cade and Petitioner, another swab from the center console was DNA of both victims and Petitioner. (R. p. 469 line 2 – p. 475 line 15). There was never any testimony or evidence presented that revealed the victims ever knew Petitioner or Mr. Cade, so they would have never ridden in that vehicle. The only way their DNA was found in the vehicle driven by Petitioner the night of the murder was from traces of blood coming from the murder scene.

There was also the testimony of Mr. Curtis McLeod who served time with Petitioner prior to trial. He worked with Petitioner in the prison cafeteria. At the time of his testimony Mr. McLeod had a substantial criminal record including convictions for strong armed robbery, failure to stop for a blue light, possession of cocaine, and was serving a sentence for drug distribution. He also had pending federal felony charges for felon in possession of a weapon. (R. p. 497 line 7- R. p. 498 line 14). A circuit solicitor has no control of a federal case, so the solicitor could not make any promises regarding sentencing, Mr. McLeod's pending charges were out of his jurisdiction, so he received no benefits for his testimony.

Mr. McLeod testified that he worked with Petitioner at the cafeteria every day from 4:30am to 11:00am. (R. p. 499 lines 16-25) He stated that there was a lot of down time so they were able to talk and Petitioner told him about his case. (R. p. 500 lines 16-17) He stated that the Petitioner informed him that he was dating this older women and that she had a grudge with the people that she was working with because she got into trouble for stealing money. Mr. McLeod then testified that Petitioner informed him that they went to the house and as he hid Ms. Rodgers talked to Mrs. Wells. An argument ensued, and they forced themselves in the house armed with a .32 caliber pistol. Petitioner then informed him that they went into the kitchen grabbed some knives, stabbed them to death, then shot Ms. Wells to make sure she was dead. He finally stated to Mr. McLeod that they left the house and proceeded to Ms. Rodgers house to clean up. (R. p. 501 line 24 – p. 507 line 1). This matched the tower pings locating his phone at the location near Ms. Rodgers residence.

The Petitioner argues that Mr. McLeod cannot be trusted due to his prior record and pending charges. However he testified to things that only the killer would know. That the knives came out the kitchen, that a .32 caliber handgun with a pearl handle was used, that only Mrs.

Wells was shot, and that Mr. Cade needed his car back so he could go to work the next morning. Mr. McLeod testified he is from Hartsville (R. p. 496 line 9) the incident occurred in Greenville, a good distance away. He would not have heard about any of this in any report from the media. It is also up to the jury to believe Mr. McLeod. If the jury believed the truthfulness of his testimony and used this to determine Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt that is all that was needed for a conviction.

The Court of Appeals determined that allowing evidence regarding PCMD is harmless error due to the enormous amount of evidence revealing that the Petitioner committed this crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The pings from the cell towers revealing that the Petitioner's phone was in the area of the murder when it possibly occurred, the corroborating evidence from Mr. Cade regarding the phone calls and the pings revealing the locations of Petitioner's phone, the DNA evidence found inside the minicooper driven by the Petitioner the night of the murder, and the testimony of Mr. McLeod detailing evidence that was told to him by the Petitioner of things only a person at the scene of the crime would know. All of this evidence reveals that the Petitioner guilt could have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt even without the PCMD evidence. Therefore, the inclusion of this evidence was harmless error, the Court of Appeals made the correct decision which should not be reviewed by this Court.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to show that the question presented warrants certiorari review. The Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court.